### **RECEIVED**

08-20-2015

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**COURT OF APPEALS** 

#### **DISTRICT I**

\_\_\_\_\_

Nos. 2015AP000657-CR & 2015AP00658-CR (Milwaukee County Case Nos. 2012CM005295 & 2013CF001581)

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

MARIO MARTINEZ REDMOND,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and the Final Orders Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Rebecca Dallet, Presiding

Gabriel Houghton State Bar No. 1083255

Counsel for the Defendant-Appellant 18000 West Sarah Lane, Suite 210 Brookfield, WI 53045 (414) 426-6040

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to properly investigate potential witnesses and call those witnesses to testify for the defense?

The trial court denied relief on this ground. R 55, App. 1.

2. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to properly object to the amendment of the information?

The trial court denied relief on this ground. R 55, App. 1.

3. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to move to dismiss Count Two of the Amended Complaint in Case No. 2013CF001581?

The trial court denied relief on this ground. R 55, App. 1.

4. Whether Mr. Redmond was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his ineffective assistance of counsel claims?

The trial court denied the defendant an evidentiary hearing. R 55, App. 1

5. Whether text message evidence should have been suppressed because it was obtained without a warrant in violation of his constitutional rights and no exception to the warrant requirement existed to justify the search?

The trial court denied relief on this ground. R 55, App. 1.

6. Whether there was insufficient evidence to convict the Mr. Redmond of three intimidation of a witness charges?

The trial court denied relief on this ground. R 55, App. 1.

vi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, references to the Record refer to that filed for Case No. 2015AP000658CR).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Though the briefs may adequately address the issues presented on this appeal, Mr. Redmond would welcome oral argument and believes it would not be of "marginal value." WIS. STAT. (RULE) 809.22(2)(b).

Publication may be warranted because this case involves the search and seizure of cell phone data, and may clarify the existing rules guiding law enforcement and the courts in this area. WIS. STAT. (RULE) 809.23(a)(1).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Mr. Redmond was charged, by criminal complaint (Milwaukee County Case No. 2012CM005295) filed December 15, 2012, with four misdemeanors: endangering safety by use of a dangerous weapon under Wis. STAT. § 941.20(1)(a); battery under Wis. STAT. § 940.19(1); criminal damage to property under Wis. STAT. § 943.01(1); and disorderly conduct, use of a dangerous weapon under Wis. STAT. § 947.01(1) and 939.63(1)(a). R 3.<sup>2</sup> In addition, the State invoked the repeater penalty enhancer provisions of Wis. STAT. § 939.62(1)(a) and the domestic abuse assessment provisions of Wis. STAT. § 968.075(1)(a) on all four counts.

A speedy trial demand was entered on January 4, 2013, and trial was scheduled for February 25, 2013. R 27:2.<sup>3</sup> The State moved to adjourn the trial, on February 6, 2013, at the final pretrial, on the grounds that new evidence, text messages found on a cell phone seized during Mr. Redmond's arrest<sup>4</sup>, was "relatively recently" brought to the State's attention, and it needed time to evaluate its admissibility. R 28:2.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Redmond was serving a sentence after revocation and his attorney at that time, Elizabeth Carlson, did not object.

The State was unable to proceed to trial on April 10, 2013, because the complainant did not appear. R 12:2-3.<sup>6</sup> It requested another adjournment, citing phone calls Mr. Redmond made to the complainant and the State's need for "a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Other items seized after Mr. Redmond's arrest and police searched his bedroom where two .40 caliber magazines and 10 .40 caliber bullets, later introduced into evidence at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

couple of weeks to look into this," which was granted over defense counsel's objection. R 12:4<sup>7</sup> Jury trial was scheduled for June 17, 2013.

Mr. Redmond was charged, by criminal complaint filed May 6, 2013, with two counts of misdemeanor intimidation of a witness under WIS. STAT. § 940.42; and one count of felony intimidation of a witness in furtherance of a conspiracy under WIS. STAT. § 940.43(4); all counts carried the domestic abuse and domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancers. R 2. At the preliminary hearing on June 3, 2013, Attorney James Toran, retained by Mr. Redmond, was allowed to assume representation for both the new felony charges and the existing misdemeanor charges, which were consolidated for trial on June 17, 2013. R 62:2, 12.

The State filed pretrial motions to admit testimonial statements under forfeiture by wrongdoing and the defendant's escape from custody as evidence of consciousness of guilt on June 14, 2013. R 7, 8, 9. On June 17, 2013 defense counsel's request for an adjournment to hire an investigator to find the complainant and review recently acquired discovery was granted over the State's objection. R 63:4, 8. Jury trial was rescheduled for July 29, 2013. R 63:9.

Trial was again adjourned on July 29, 2013 when defense counsel was allowed to withdraw. R 65:9. Attorney Dianne Erickson was appointed to represent Mr. Redmond and jury trial was scheduled for October 28, 2013. R 66:4. A stipulation and order for substitution of counsel was filed on September 27, 2013 and Attorney William Kerner became Mr. Redmond's lawyer. R 18.

On the morning of Monday, October 28, 2013 the complainant did not appear and the State asked for a ruling on its forfeiture by wrongdoing motion. R

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

68:3. It was denied, a body attachment was issued, and several evidentiary issues arose. R 68:19, 25, 28. The defense did not have a copy of a videotaped interview of Mr. Redmond conducted the day of his arrest (December 11, 2012). R 68:25. The State also sought to introduce text messages from a cell phone, seized at the time of Mr. Redmond's arrest, into evidence. R 68:25. The State attested that it had "just discovered" the text messages in its file, though it had made the same claim regarding the same text messages eight months earlier. R 68:25-26, R 28:2-3.8 The Court passed the case until the afternoon to give the State time to execute the warrant, find the video CD of the interview requested by the defense, and determine if it could properly introduce the text message evidence. R 68:29. In the afternoon, the Court adjourned the trial until the following Monday, November 4, 2013, to allow defense counsel an opportunity to examine the interview and text message evidence, and the State time to execute the body attachment on the complainant. R 69:5-8.

On October 31, 2013 the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint, adding a fourth count, felony intimidation of a witness by a person charged with a felony under WIS. STAT. § 940.43(7), to Case No. 2013CF001581. R 23. The new charge was based on two phone calls made from jail on October 24 and October 26, 2013. Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress the text messages and a motion to suppress the magazines and bullets on November 1, 2013. R 25, 26. In light of the "new" evidence and the State's desire to add charges for a trial scheduled to begin in three days, trial counsel also filed a motion to adjourn the trial and modify bail. R 24, 70. The Court adjourned the matter until Monday to

<sup>8</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

hear the suppression motions and decide whether it would allow the amended criminal complaint to be used. R 70.

On November 4, 2013, the Court ruled that the State could amend the Information and advised the defense that it would grant an adjournment but would not modify bail, saying "[i]f we're going to trial, it's on everything." R 71:19, App. 2. Mr. Redmond chose to proceed to trial and the Court granted the State's forfeiture by wrongdoing motion to allow the complainant's testimonial statements into evidence. Defense counsel withdrew the motion to suppress the magazines and bullets because he did not know if Mr. Redmond had standing and to accommodate the efficient prosecution of the case. R 71:5 The motion to suppress the text messages began with the State calling probation agent Renee Rodgers-Adams. It was adjourned in light of her unexpected testimony to allow defense counsel to subpoena witnesses. R 722-3.

The suppression hearing continued a week later; at the close of which the Court allowed for use as evidence the first of four pages photographically depicting various text messages. R 74:28, R 49, Ex. 1, App. 3. Jury selection was completed the following morning, opening statements were made, and the trial proceeded with the State calling the complainant, who appeared in custody, and five other witnesses. R 75, 76.

The jury found Mr. Redmond guilty of battery and disorderly conduct and all of the intimidation charges. R 80. He was sentenced on December 20, 2013 as follows. For the battery and disorderly conduct convictions in Case No. 2012CM005295, he received 5 months each, concurrent with each other but

consecutive to any other sentence, with credit for 152 days time served. R 80. In Case No. 2013CF001581, for the misdemeanor intimidation of a witness and the intimidation of a witness in furtherance of a conspiracy convictions he was sentenced on each count to nine months, and on the last felony intimidation of a witness charge he was sentenced to 3 years initial confinement and 3 years extended supervision, concurrent with each other but consecutive to any other sentence. R 81. Trial counsel timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief for both cases on January 6, 2014. R 41; R21.9

On November 28, 2014, Mr. Redmond filed a postconviction motion alleging he was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to investigate and call to testify any defense witnesses and made other errors, the cumulative effect of which were prejudicial. R. 48. An evidentiary hearing was requested to address these claims. In the postconviction motion, Mr. Redmond also asked the trial court to reconsider its ruling on his pretrial motion to suppress the text messages. In addition, challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence, and a request to correct an error in calculating pretrial incarceration credit were raised. On March 13, 2015, the trial court issued a written decision denying, without an evidentiary hearing, Mr. Redmond's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. R. 55, App. 1. The trial court, in the same written decision, declined to alter its ruling regarding the text messages and found that sufficient evidence was presented to sustain the charges

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Record for 2015AP000657CR.

alleging intimidation of a witness. The court did grant Mr. Redmond's request for an additional three days of sentence credit.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Mr. Redmond was arrested at his grandmother's residence on December 11, 2012 for a probation violation based on allegations that in the early morning hours of December 10, 2012, he broke into T.P's residence, entered without her consent and assaulted her while brandishing a firearm. When he was taken into custody, police seized a cell phone. In addition, two .40 caliber magazine clips and a black digital scale were seized from a suitcase police found in an upstairs bedroom.

The suppression motion hearing, begun on November 4, 2013 and concluded on November 11, 2013, produced various, often contradictory, accounts of Mr. Redmond's arrest and the seizure of the cell phone. R. 71, 74. Probation agent Renee Rodgers-Adams accompanied Milwaukee Police Department officers, Scott Davis and Andrew Farina to effectuate Mr. Redmond's arrest. R 71:42. Agent Rodgers-Adams testified that Mr. Redmond's father answered the door and called his son downstairs, Officer Farina took Mr. Redmond into custody, and Mr. Redmond fled while handcuffed. R 71:43-44. She said a cell phone fell out of Mr. Redmond's jacket pocket when he started to run and when she picked it up she saw text messages on the screen without opening or otherwise manipulating the phone. R 71:44-45. She further testified she was able to see all the messages represented in the four page exhibit the State offered. R 71:46. After she looked at the phone, she testified that a sergeant

looked at it, and then she turned it over to the agent of record, Christine Riggs. R 71:47.

On cross-examination, Attorney Kerner offered a Violation Investigation Report written by Agent Riggs that contradicted Agent Rodgers-Adams testimony and the Court reviewed the portion he indicated on the second page of the report. R 49, Ex. 2, App. 4.10 This led to the aforementioned adjournment to allow trial counsel to arrange for witnesses. When the suppression hearing continued, the State called Officer Scott Davis. He testified that a family member called upstairs for Mr. Redmond and that when he came downstairs, he, Officer Davis, "immediately placed [Mr. Redmond's] hands behind his back, put him in handcuffs, and conducted a search incident to arrest." R 73:7-8. Officer Farina, though he did not testify at the suppression hearing, told the jury at trial, "I looked up [the stairs] and I saw Mario Redmond exit a bedroom, and when I observed him, because there were allegations of a gun, I drew my firearm and told him to put his hands up. He complied. I told him to come down the steps slowly, turn around, and I placed handcuffs on him, without incident." R 78:13. Officer Davis said he found a cell phone in "a jacket or a hooded sweathshirt," noticed there were text messages on the screen "to the effect that he was gonna go on the run," and put it back in Mr. Redmond's pocket. R 73:9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The proffered text of the report reads: "It should be noted when Mr. Redmond was being pat-searched to be taken into custody, police removed a cell phone from his person and received a message while in the officer's hand. The officers noted the message seemed to be related to the incident with [redacted]. An MPD sergeant proceeded to look through the phone and found several messages where Mr. Redmond admitted to "beating" his girlfriend and having a firearm. The cell phone was given to Agent Rodgers-Adams by the police to five to this agent on December 12, 2012. On December 12, 2012, Assistant Regional Chief Mike Williams approved a search of the cell phone. Mr. Redmond text messaged two different people he had "beat up" his girlfriend, he had a gun, and was going on the run because the police knew." App. 4.

Trial counsel called three witnesses. Mr. Redmond's probation agent, Christine Riggs, testified that she learned that a MPD sergeant looked through the phone and then gave the phone to Agent Rodgers-Adams during an "on-scene phone call with Agent Rodgers-Adams after she returned to the office as well." R 73:22-23. Agent Riggs also said that the phone was brought to her in a sealed bag and that they "were not approved to look at the phone at that time by our management." R 73:24

Sergeant Pamela Holmes testified that she took the photographs of the text messages after Officer Farina or Agent Rodgers-Adams gave it to her and that she did not "get any information from them as to how they got the phone." R 74:4-5. Erma Johnson, Mr. Redmond's grandmother, described her observations of the incident. The police initially handcuffed her son, Mr. Redmond's father, Mario Redmond, Sr. when he answered the door. R 74:9. She testified that her son, the officer, and the agent then went upstairs; when they came down one of the officers was carrying a cell phone that she had previously seen in her grandson's possession. R. 74:10. Ms. Johnson recalled the probation agent saying "we're gonna need that," and that the cell phone was not put back in her grandson's pocket. R. 74:10-11.

After hearing argument from both parties, the trial court recalled Sergeant Holmes to ask "whether she had to scroll through to take" the photographs of the text messages – she did. R 74:18-19. The court ruled that the first page of Exhibit 1 was admissible, because it believed that was what Officer Davis saw when he glanced at the phone during his search incident to arrest, but not the other

pages of the exhibit because "scrolling through someone's phone is a search." R. 74:24-28, App. 5.

The underlying incident, that precipitated Mr. Redmond's arrest, occurred on December 10, 2012. Milwaukee Police Officer Larin Young was called to 8115 W. Hampton Ave. to investigate a battery alleged to have occurred at 8938 N. 97th St. R. 77:11. T.P. told Officer Young that at 5:00 a.m. she heard knocking on a window and Mr. Redmond demanding to be let in; she ignored it; he left but returned 15 minutes later, broke the patio door and entered her residence. R. 77:14-16. Officer Young testified that Mr. Redmond punched T.P in the face and back. R.77:16. T.P. told Officer Young that when she went to the bedroom to check on her three month old son, Mr. Redmond let an unknown black male into her apartment, acquired a handgun from him and, upon entering the bedroom, asked about other men while pointing the firearm at her person. R. 77:22-24. Officer Young testified that T.P. told him that Mr. Redmond broke her cell phone, took her keys, and left in a grey Nissan. R. 77:27, 29.

This account is at odds, however, with statements by Steven Arnold and Staci Randle. R 49, Ex. 4 and 5, App. 6 and 7. Ms. Randle recalls driving with Mr. Redmond in her gray Nissan to pick up Mr. Arnold, who then drove her to work. Mr. Arnold, a cousin by marriage of T.P., states that Mr. Redmond and Ms. Randle picked him up at approximately 4:30 a.m. on December 10, 2013, drove Ms. Randle to work and then went to T.P.'s residence. Once there, he heard T.P. and Mr. Redmond arguing in her bedroom and witnessed them arguing

in the living room. He did not see Mr. Redmond strike T.P. or brandish a firearm. At some point T.P. called her brother Parnell; when he arrived he pounded on the patio door. At this point, Mr. Arnold said to Mr. Redmond, "this ain't worth it – let's go. You came with me, you leaving with me." Mr. Redmond agreed and they left the apartment.

T.P. admitted she was a reluctant witness and did not want to testify. R 76:6. When the State directed her attention to December 10, 2012, she said, "I remember some but not a lot." R 76:10. Asked what she did remember, T.P. described fighting at a bar but telling her friend, who called 911 to report the incident, that Mr. Redmond had caused her injuries in the hopes that her friend would drop the matter. R 76:11, 18. When confronted with the statements Officer Young reported she made to him, T.P. almost invariably said that she could not remember or could not remember saying those things, testifying at one point, "I really wasn't talking to him. It was Danai [the friend who called 911] who was really answering him. I was in the other room." R 76:28.

On cross-examination, T.P. said that she did not want to tell her friend, Danai Hudson, who she had fought with because T.P.'s older daughter is related to her friend, that she had lied to the police in the past by providing a false name and that, realizing that what had been reported to the police could get Mr. Redmond in trouble, she lied about his name and birth date. R 76:67, 69-71. She also testified that she called Mr. Redmond later that day, and that he advised her that her attempt to deceive law enforcement would not work, and that she needed to contact his probation agent and tell her the truth – that is the "main point" of

the telephone calls from jail. R 76:71-72. Trial counsel admitted into evidence, and published to the jury, an affidavit T.P. executed in March 2013 recanting her statements to Officer Young, which indicated that she lied because she was angry with Mr. Redmond when she heard he was unfaithful to her. R 76:73-74, R 49, Ex. 6, App. 8.

Before Mr. Redmond was charged in Case No. 2012CM005295, he made various phone calls to his family and T.P. that formed the basis for the first three intimidation charges. The State introduced portions of these conversations through Investigator Anna Linden, who works for the Witness Protection Unit. Selected snippets were played for the jury. The first two calls were made on December, 12, 2012, to T.P. R 78:36, 38.

The next call played in court was recorded on December 14, 2012 at 9:46 a.m. R. 78:39. In it Mr. Redmond is speaking with his father, Mario Redmond, Sr., though the latter was never formally identified by either party during the course of the trial, and is referred to only as "Pops." At one point, in the conversation, the following exchange was played:

Pops: Let her know not to come and let her know what to do.

Redmond: Tomorrow, mom's coming.

App. 9. It is unclear where this portion of the call is stopped, 11 but before it was begun "Pops" says "I'm a call and let them people Lydia know." The State played another portion where it appears "Pops," using another phone while

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