RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

11-03-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2015AP657-CR & 2015AP658-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARIO MARTINEZ REDMOND,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Given those standards, the court's consideration of the new charge, and Redmond's failure to demonstrate any resulting prejudice, Redmond cannot demonstrate ineffectiveness because there was no alternative argument that Kerner could have raised that would have changed the court's decision. Redmond simply argues that the court wrongly applied the joinder "same or similar character" standard as opposed to the "not wholly unrelated" standard of § 971.29 (Redmond's br. at 24). He then argues that the October 24 call was "wholly unrelated" to the other charges in the information, because Redmond's earlier calls formed the basis for misdemeanor charges, whereas the State charged the October 24 call as a felony, and because many months separated the original calls from the October 24 call (Redmond's br. at 24).

Redmond's argument is weak. Even if the court had considered the added charge under the "same or similar character" standard—and the State disagrees that it did—it is not apparent how that standard is a lesser one than "not wholly unrelated." The October call supported a felony charge, but that doesn't make Redmond's October effort to dissuade T.P.

from coming to court "wholly unrelated" to his December efforts doing the same thing. What's more, Redmond remains silent on how the amended information prejudiced him, particularly given that he declined the opportunity for an adjournment.

Thus, Redmond cannot demonstrate that Attorney Kerner was ineffective based a failure to raise a different argument opposing the amended information. *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994) (stating that counsel is not ineffective for failing to make meritless arguments). He is not entitled to a *Machner* hearing on this claim.

D. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to seek dismissal of the second intimidation-of-a-witness count.

In a single paragraph in his postconviction motion, Redmond argued that his counsel was also ineffective for failing to move to dismiss the second intimidation-of-a-witness count (49:15). Without record citations or legal analysis, he stated that the criminal complaint was defective because it omitted facts that would have undercut the court's probable cause determination (49:15). The circuit court summarily dismissed this claim, stating that it would have denied any motion to dismiss (55:5; A-Ap. 1:5).

In his motion, Redmond admitted that he did not allege sufficient facts to entitle him to a hearing on that claim, but rather sought to have it swept in to the *Machner* hearing he sought on his other grounds (49:15). Hence, his motion was facially insufficient as to that claim, and the circuit court could have denied it on that ground alone.

On appeal, Redmond does not expand that argument, include record cites, or invoke any facts that are included in the

record.³ Thus, the claim is inadequately briefed. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (this court may decline to address issues inadequately briefed). Moreover, the record conclusively demonstrates that Redmond cannot obtain relief based on a challenge to the court's preliminary probable cause determination on count 2, because the jury's finding of guilt on that count mooted any error at the preliminary stage. *State v. Webb*, 160 Wis. 2d 622, 628, 467 N.W.2d 108 (1991) ("[A] [c]onviction resulting from a fair and errorless trial in effect cures any error at the preliminary hearing."). Thus, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in declining to grant a *Machner* hearing on this claim.

In sum, Redmond could not demonstrate entitlement to a *Machner* hearing on any of his ineffective assistance claims. This court should affirm the circuit court's proper exercise of discretion.

II. The circuit court properly allowed the State to admit the text message that police saw in plain view; alternatively, any error was harmless.

Redmond next claims that the circuit court improperly allowed the State to admit a screen shot of a text message as evidence after the court concluded that an officer saw it in plain

³ Redmond references "the recording of the [December 14] phone call" and "the transcript," but neither of those things appears in the records in these cases. Redmond does include a purported transcript of the December 14 call in his appendix (A-Ap. 9), but neither that transcript nor the recording it is based on appears in the appellate records. Hence, this court cannot consider it. *See South Carolina Equip., Inc. v. Sheedy,* 120 Wis. 2d 119, 125-26, 353 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1984) (stating that this court will not consider matters outside the appellate record); *see also State v. Marks,* 2010 WI App 172, ¶20, 330 Wis. 2d 693, 794 N.W.2d 547 (stating that it is the appellant's responsibility to ensure that the appellate record is complete).

view on Redmond's phone when he arrested Redmond, and that any error was not harmless (Redmond's br. at 30-35).

Redmond is wrong. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in allowing the State to admit the text message based on its findings that the arresting officer saw the message on Redmond's phone without manipulating it. In any event, the message, in which Redmond told another person "I'm finna have to go on da run smh," and which the State used to infer that Redmond intended to avoid arrest because he knew he was guilty of the crimes against T.P., was harmless, given that the jury heard other evidence supporting the consciousness-of-guilt theory, including testimony that Redmond actually ran from police during his arrest.

A. The circuit court exercises its discretion in deciding whether to admit or exclude evidence.

Whether to admit or exclude evidence is within the circuit court's sound exercise of discretion. *See State v. Pepin*, 110 Wis. 2d 431, 435, 328 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1982). Accordingly, this court will sustain the circuit court's evidentiary decision if the record demonstrates that the circuit court "logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standard, and used a demonstrated rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Wanta*, 224 Wis. 2d 679, 689, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1999).

Redmond adequately sets forth the relevant law as to warrantless searches and the plain view exception in his brief (Redmond's br. at 30-32). As he notes, the plain view exception requires that (1) the officer have a prior justification for being in the position from which he made the plain view discovery; (2) the evidence was in plain view; and (3) there is probable cause to believe that the item that the officer viewed is connected to criminal activity. *State v. Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d 339, 345, 524 N.W.2d 911 (Ct. App. 1994) (citation omitted). Here, the only

point that Redmond disputes is the second step of the plainview test, that is, that the text message was in plain view to the arresting officer in this case.

- B. The circuit court's findings were not clearly erroneous and supported its conclusion that the text message was in plain view.
 - 1. The circuit court soundly determined that the arresting officer saw the first message in plain view.

Shortly after T.P. reported the December 10 incident to police, police arrested Redmond. During the arrest, Redmond had in his hand or pocket his cell phone, which showed a text conversation between Redmond and "Staci" (presumably his girlfriend, Staci Randle). The State sought to admit a series of four pages depicting the text-message conversation, which included statements from Redmond that (1) "I'm finna have to go on da run smh," 4 and (2) "I beat up [T.P.] n had my heat n da olive [police] found out" 5 (49:21-24). Redmond sought suppression of the text messages as products of an illegal warrantless search (25).

At a hearing on the motion, the court found that the arresting officer was justified in taking Redmond's phone from his pocket and looking at it, that the screen was on and displaying the first message ("I'm finna have to go on da run smh"), and that the officer saw that message in plain view (49:21; 74:26-27; A-Ap. 5:26-27). But it further found that the remainder of the messages—including Redmond's admission

⁴ The acronym smh generally means "shake my head" or "shaking my head." *See* http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=smh.

⁵ Redmond's next text in the conversation clarified that he meant "police" when he wrote "olive" (49:22).

that he "beat up" T.P.—could not have been viewable to police without the officers scrolling through the conversation, that such scrolling was an illegal search, and that there were no applicable exceptions to the exclusionary rule (74:27-28; A-Ap. 5:27-28). Accordingly, it permitted the State to admit the first page depicting the first statement but suppressed the remainder of the pages, which included the second statement (74:28; A-Ap. 5:28).

The court grounded those findings and conclusions on the following testimony:

- Officer Scott Davis testified that he arrested Redmond on December 11, 2012 (73:6). During the arrest, Davis handcuffed Redmond, patted him down, and felt something in his pocket (73:8-9). He reached in and removed a touch-screen cell phone, which was lit and displaying text messages (73:9). Davis remembered reading the message indicating that he was "fit'na have to go on the run," which he took to mean that Redmond was planning on absconding (73:9-10). Davis said that he could only see the messages appearing on page one of the four-page conversation and that someone would "probably" have to scroll to see the messages after page one (73:17). Davis returned the phone to Redmond and began to lead him out of the house (73:9-11).
- Once outside, Redmond got away from Davis and ran (73:10-11). Officers chased Redmond and caught him less than a block away, at which point Redmond's phone was no longer on him (73:11-14).
- Agent Renee Rogers Adams was at the arrest, and retrieved Redmond's phone, which had fallen from Redmond's pocket when he ran from the police (71:43). She said that the phone was displaying text messages without any manipulation or movement by her (71:45-46). She said that she could see all of the messages from

all four pages when she looked at the phone (71:46, 48-49).6

• Sergeant Pamela Holmes testified that she arrived at the scene of the arrest after officers had caught Redmond (74:4-5). She said that one of the officers and Rogers approached her squad with the phone and asked her to take pictures of the text messages, which she did (74: 5). Holmes said that she could see the message referencing beating up T.P. on the screen when the phone was given to her (74:19). She then had to scroll up to get to the first page of messages, and then began taking photos of the messages from there (74:19). She said that the phone stayed lit and that the screen did not lock or time out while she had it and was taking pictures (74:20).

In all, that testimony supported the court's findings: Officer Davis saw the phone, he remembered seeing the message about planning to run but not the others; Sergeant Holmes stated that she had to scroll to capture the whole conversation in the photos. Holmes also stated that the phone's screen did not lock out, dim, or turn off while she was taking photos, which supported the finding that the phone's screen was on when Officer Davis first looked at the phone.

And based on those findings, the court reasonably allowed only the first page (and the first message) to be admitted under the plain view doctrine. In *State v. Carroll*, the supreme court held that an a officer's seizure of an open cell phone during an arrest was justified. 2010 WI 8, ¶22, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1. It also held that the officer's immediate viewing of an image displayed on the screen of Carroll smoking a

⁶ Adams said that she then turned the phone over to Christina Riggs, who was the agent of record (71:47-48). Riggs testified that she eventually received the phone from Rogers but was not at the arrest and had no firsthand knowledge of what officers viewed and how (73:24, 26).

marijuana blunt was permissible under the plain view doctrine, *id.* ¶25, though the court explained that the officer's later browsing through the images in the cell phone's image gallery was improper. *Id.* ¶33

Here, the circuit court's decision was consistent with *Carroll*: the first page, which the court found that Officer Davis saw without manipulating the phone, was in plain view like the image in *Carroll*, but any subsequent "scrolling" was improper, just as the officer's browsing through the phone's images was improper in *Carroll*.

Redmond argues that (1) it was very unlikely that the screen was activated, given language in *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2487 (2014), that "most phones lock at the touch of a button or, as a default, after some very short period of inactivity"; (2) text messages cannot, by their nature, be in "plain view" because the viewer must read and interpret the text, unlike viewing an image; and (3) the State handled the cell phone messages in a "troubling" manner (Redmond's br. at 33-34).

None of those arguments assists Redmond. First, the Court's language in *Riley* was an observation that *most* phones lock out as a default, not a statement that as a matter of law, *all* phones lock out. Here, the court heard and believed testimony from the people who viewed the phone stating that Redmond's phone screen remained on without their manipulation and that Redmond did not appear to have default lock-out mechanism activated (74:20).

Second, there is nothing in law or logic distinguishing between a person's ability to comprehend the content of a photograph and a text message. Indeed, other courts have not made such a distinction. *See, e.g., United States v. Nyuon,* No. CR 12-40017-01-KES, 2013 WL 1338192, at *4 (D.S.D. Mar. 29, 2013) (text messages were in plain view), *aff'd*, 587 F. App'x 346 (8th Cir. 2014); *United States v. Gomez*, 807 F. Supp. 2d 1134, 1141

(S.D. Fla. 2011) (appearance of caller ID name on phone, without any manipulation by agents, was in plain view); *State v. Holland*, 865 N.W.2d 666, 672 (Minn. 2015) (text messages visible on cell phone screen that officers did not otherwise manipulate were in plain view). Nor does it logically follow that the plain-view doctrine requires officers in a legal position to view a text message to somehow avoid reading or comprehending the text.

Third, Redmond seems to suggest that the State violated discovery rules or did not permit him a fair opportunity to investigate the text messages (Redmond's br. at 34). But that undeveloped argument is unrelated to whether officers saw the message in plain view or whether the message should have been suppressed under the Fourth Amendment. *See Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646 (this court may decline to address undeveloped issues). Hence, he is not entitled to suppression on that ground.

In sum, the circuit court properly allowed the State to introduce Redmond's "I'm finna have to go on da run smh" text message based on its conclusion that officers saw it in plain view from a legal vantage point without manipulating the phone. This court may affirm on that ground.

2. Alternatively, any error was harmless given the other evidence that Redmond knew he was guilty of the incident in T.P.'s apartment and direct evidence of her claims to police.

Admission at trial of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is subject to harmless-error analysis. *See, e.g., Chambers v. Maroney,* 399 U.S. 42, 52-53 (1970).

For an error to be harmless, the party benefitting from the error must demonstrate that "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶45, 343

Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (quoting *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)); *see also State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶47, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (stating that "error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error . . . 'complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained'") (citation omitted). In other words, this court must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have—not simply could have—arrived at the same verdict absent the error. *Martin*, 343 Wis. 2d 278, ¶45.

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